346/446 Tax Classes Court Case Summary- Example

Cornell M. Jones v. Commissioner of Internal Revenue, 90-1 USTC 150,280

FACTS

Cornell Jones was a cash basis, individual taxpayer who was arrested on October 29, 1985, and
convicted as a drug dealer (in a criminal court). He did not maintain any records of his income
from the sale of cocaine or file a 1985 U.S. individual income tax return (Form 1040).

The Commissioner of Internal Revenue (CIR) reconstructed the taxpayer’s 1985 income using,
in part, evidence and testimony provided by the police. Per that reconstruction, the taxpayer had
unreported income of $33 million for the first ten months of the tax year, prior to his arrest. The
CIR then issued a statutory notice of deficiency for $16 million in unpaid taxes plus additions to
that tax totaling $4.1 million for failure to file and a substantial understatement of income tax.
The U.S. Tax Court upheld the CIR’s reconstruction of the taxpayer’s 1985 income and the
determination of the additional tax due; The Tax Court’s initial ruling (08/18/88) did not support
the CIR’s determination of the additions to tax under either 886651 or 6661. However, the Tax
Court issued an amending order (10/14/88) to correct its calculation under §6651.

ISSUES
1. How much income from the sale of cocaine should the taxpayer have reported in 1985?
2. How much should the taxpayer have paid in addition to any additional tax due on that
income, given his failure to file?

AUTHORITIES

IRC 81 imposes a tax on the taxable income earned by an individual and 8§61 specifies that gross
income includes all income from what ever source derived. This income tax is a “self-reported”
tax and every taxpayer is required to file an annual tax return (86001) based on the method of
accounting used to maintain the taxpayer’s accounting books (§446(a)). Thus, a taxpayer is
subject to “additions to” his/her income tax liability under IRC 86651 (failure to file), 86653
(failure to pay tax), 86654 (failure to pay estimated taxes), and 86661 (substantial
understatement of income tax).

When a taxpayer fails to maintain adequate accounting records, the IRS can reconstruct the

taxpayer’s income (Anson v. CIR, 64-1 USTC 19293; Adamson v. CIR, 84-2 USTC {9863) using

any reasonable method, such as examining changes in the taxpayer’s assets or estimating income
production. In that situation, it is the taxpayer’s burden to prove that the reconstruction is

arbitrary and erroneous (Rui d os o Rac i n g 73AL4JSTC i9330). The taxpayer . Cl R,
can meet that burden by proving that the IRS assessment is without foundation (United States v.

Janis, 76-2 USTC 116,229). If the taxpayer fails to carry that burden, a presumption that the

CIR’s reconstruction is “correct” will prevail.

CONCLUSION

The taxpayer should have reported $33 million of income from the sale of cocaine in 1985. The
taxpayer failed to provide evidence to establish that the CIR’s estimate of his income was
incorrect, while the testimony of credible expert witnesses further supported the presumption of
correctness.
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He also incurred additions to the additional tax due on that income, although the case was
remanded to the Tax Court to redetermine the amount of the additions under 886651 and 6661.
The Tax Court erroneously omitted and miscalculated the additions to the tax.

Penalty Revised-
Section Original Revised- IRS TCM
§6651(a)(1) $1,649,040 | $1,649,040 |  $4,122,600
§6653(a)(1) 824,520 824,520 824,520
86654 2,507 2,507 2,507
86661 1,649,040 4,122,600 1,649,040
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US-CT-APP-10, [90-1 USTC 150,280], Cornell M. Jones, Petitioner-Appellant, Cross-Appellee v.
Commissioner of Internal Revenue, Respondent-Appellee, Cross-Appellant , Reconstruction of income:
lllegal drug sales: Civil penalties: Failure to file: Substantial understatement of, (May 21, 1990)

[90-1 USTC 150,280] Cornell M. Jones, Petitioner-Appellant, Cross-Appellee v. Commissioner of Internal
Revenue, Respondent-Appellee, Cross-Appellant

(CA-10), U.S. Court of Appeals, 10th Circuit, 88-2948, 88-2811, 5/21/90, 903 F2d 1301, Affirming in part and
reversing in part the Tax Court, 55 TCM 1566, Dec. 44,977(M) , T.C. Memo. 1988-373

[Code Secs. 446 and 6651 , 6653 and 6654 prior to amendment by P.L. 101-239, and 6661, prior to repeal by P.L.
101-239]

Reconstruction of income: lllegal drug sales: Civil penalties: Failure to file: Substantial understatement of
tax.--The termination assessment made against a convicted cocaine dealer was not unreasonable and arbitrary.
Although the amount assessed almost “defie[d] credibility,” that in itself was not sufficient to prove the assessment
was arbitrary. The IRS had ample evidence to conclude that the taxpayer had unreported income from drug sales.
The reconstruction of his income based upon the volume of drug sales, determined from the taxpayer’s statements
and coconspirator’s statements and from surveillance of his property, and the street price of the drugs was proper.
The taxpayer’s defense was merely a specious attempt to distance himself from the drug-selling operation. Further,
the taxpayer presented no records or other evidence to prove the IRS’s determination was erroneous and did not
suggest a more accurate estimate of his income. However, the case was remanded for determination of the correct
amount of the failure to file, negligence, failure to pay estimated tax, and substantial understatement penalties.
BACK REFERENCES: 90FED 12767.0593, 90FED 140,375.5242, 90FED 140,445.551, 90FED 140,460.27 and
90FED 140,550.30

Mark J. Rochon, W. Gary Kohlman, Kohlman & Fitch, Washington, D.C., for petitioner-appellant, cross-appellee.
Shirley D. Peterson, Assistant Attorney General, James I.K. Knapp, Acting Assistant Attorney General, Charles E.
Brookhart, Gary R. Allen, Laura Marie Conley O’Hanlon, Department of Justice, Washington, D.C. 20530, for
respondent-appellee, cross-appellant.

Before MCKAY, ANDERSON and BALDOCK, Circuit Judges.
ANDERSON, Circuit Judge:

Cornell Jones appeals a decision of the United States Tax Court sustaining an income tax deficiency for the
calendar year 1985 in the amount of $16,490,402 together with additions to tax under 26 U.S.C. §86651(a)(1) ,
6653(a)(1), 6654 , and 6661 totalling $4,125,107. Jones v. Commissioner [CCH Dec. 44,977(M) ], No. 36601-86
(T.C. Aug. 18, 1988) (Decision); R. Vol. I, Tab 27. * The Tax Court made no mention in its opinion of the
Commissioner’s asserted addition to Jones’ 1985 tax under 26 U.S.C. §6653(a)(2), and only partially sustained the
asserted addition under §6661 . Jones v. Commissioner [CCH Dec. 44,977(M) ], 55 T.C.M. (CCH) 1556 (1988). The
Commissioner cross-appeals as to these two items. We affirm the Tax Court’s decision concerning the tax
deficiency, and remand for further proceedings to determine the correct amount of additions to the tax.

Jones was arrested on October 29, 1985 by the Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Police Department after having
participated in the purchase of what he then believed to be one kilogram of cocaine from undercover police officers.
Jones pled guilty to conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. §846 (1982) and
he was sentenced to a term of 9 to 27 years imprisonment.

Jones’ arrest was the result of a lengthy investigation of large scale drug trafficking taking place at a small area
known as Hanover Place in the District of Columbia. Searches of Jones’ residence and of several apartments in and
around D.C. produced SSEISRNORMIMMBHSIBHEENERS, including $870,000 cash at his residence and $643,900 cash
in bank deposit boxes; three gold ingots; two Mercedes Benz automobiles; jewelry; furs; 28 airline tickets from
Washington, D.C. to Las Vegas, Nevada; tickets to a championship fight in Las Vegas; five handguns; over 10.5
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kilograms of cocaine; drug packaging paraphernalia; a bill counting machine; communications equipment; and a
drug identification kit; all of which convincingly linked Jones to the cocaine trade at Hanover Place. Furthermore,

SR CEISHEIEENgE officers investigating the Hanover Place operation identified Jones as the

organizer behind the significant drug activity taking place.

In January 1986 the IRS made a termination assessment against Jones of $33,990,402 based on $68 million in
unreported income from drug related activities which the IRS estimated Jones received in the first ten months of
1985 prior to his arrest. The government later modified its estimate of Jones’ drug related income, asserting in its
statutory notice of deficiency that Jones received unreported income of $33 million in 1985. Jones kept no records of
income from drug sales, and he did not file an income tax return for 1985.

Jones petitioned the Tax Court which upheld the deficiency based on the asserted $33 million income for 1985
and certain additions to tax based on the amount of the resulting deficiency. Jones now appeals the Tax Court’s
ruling on several grounds, the most relevant of which is that the assessment based on $33 million income is
unreasonable and arbitrary. 2

DISCUSSION

Ordinarily, the statutory notice of deficiency is presumed correct; the burden rests on the taxpayer to establish that
the determination of income is erroneous. Zell v. Commissioner [85-2 USTC 19698 ], 763 F.2d 1139, 1141 (10th Cir.
1985). * As a taxpayer, Jones has the duty to maintain adequate and accurate records to enable him to file a tax
return. See 26 U.S.C. 86001 ; Anson v. Commissioner [64-1 usTc 19293 ], 328 F.2d 703, 705 (10th Cir. 1964)
(“[T]he privilege of original self-assessment accorded the taxpayer carries with it the burden of support through the
maintenance of records which clearly and accurately reflect income.”). Where, as here, the taxpayer keeps
inadequate records or no records at all the Commissioner is entitled to reconstruct the taxpayer’s gross receipts and
costs to arrive at an assessment for the unreported income. See Anson, 328 F.2d at 705-06; Adamson v.
Commissioner [84-2 usTc 19863 ], 745 F.2d 541, 548 (9th Cir. 1984) (“The absence of tax records cannot
automatically deprive the Commissioner of a rational foundation for the income determination.”). Thus a taxpayer
who has abandoned the advantage of mathematical precision by failing to keep adequate records cannot complain
that the Commissioner’s assessment is based on estimates rather than proven amounts of unreported income. See
Anson, 328 F.2d at 707 (calculation of unreported tip income by use of arithmetic formula acceptable even though
such a method “cannot produce exactness”).

Jones offered almost no real evidence to prove that the Commissioner’s assessment was erroneous except his
weak attempts to distance himself from all drug sales. He made no attempt to suggest a more appropriate or more
accurate estimate of his drug related income, nor did he suggest who, if not he, was receiving the majority of income
arising from drug trafficking at Hanover Place in 1985. Where no such evidence of error is produced, we might
ordinarily rely solely on the presumptive correctness of the deficiency notice and dispose of the case without further
discussion. As we stated in Ruidoso Racing Ass’ n I nc. v [73-Demifd3z]s4766.2dé&02, 507-08
(10th Cir. 1973), “With regard to unreported income, the taxpayer must prove that the determination is arbitrary and

2

erroneous . . . .

We pause, however, to discuss Jones’ contention that the sheer magnitude of the government’s assessment is
itself sufficient to demonstrate that it is arbitrary and erroneous. The $33 million income which the government
assigned to Jones over a ten-month period is indeed a figure which almost defies credibility. This court has never
directly addressed the outer boundary of reasonableness at which point the bare presumption afforded the
Commissioner’s assessment must ultimately give way; nevertheless, we believe that such a point probably does
exist. The Fifth Circuit has concluded that “[T]he absence of adequate tax records does not give the Commissioner
carte blanche for imposing Draconian absolutes . . . [even though] such absence does weaken any critique of the
Commissioner’s methodology.” Webb v. Commissioner [68-1 usTcC 19341 ], 394 F.2d 366, 373 (5th Cir. 1968); see
Bradford v. Commissioner [86-2 usTc 19602 ], 796 F.2d 303, 306 (9th Cir. 1986); Walker v. Commissioner [85-1
usTC 19218 ], 757 F.2d 36, 37 (3d Cir. 1985) (“The Internal Revenue Service has sometimes overreacted [to
unreported income from illegal sources] by imposing arbitrary assessments.”); United States v. Carson [78-1 USTC
116,280 ], 560 F.2d 693, 698 (5th Cir. 1977) (unlimited reliance entirely on a bare presumption of correctness is a
position “which would support the most arbitrary of assessments” and “does not become the government’s agents . .

).

Copyright © 2004, CCH INCORPORATED. All rights reserved.



346/446 Tax Classes Court Case Summary- Example

Jones has not satisfied any evidentiary burden in contesting the Commissioner’s assessment. Had he met such a
burden, the presumption of correctness afforded the Commissioner’s assessment would disappear and the
government would be required to prove the accuracy of its determination. Cf . Rui doso Racing Ass
Commissioner, 476 F.2d at 508 (where the government’s determination is demonstrably arbitrary . . . “the
Commissioner must satisfy the court as to the existence and amount of unreported income.”). Rather than offering
any explanation or other evidence concerning the amount of drug-related income he received, Jones merely
attempted to prove that he received no income from drug sales. His attempt to distance himself from illegal income
failed miserably. He therefore has not demonstrated that the government’s estimate is exaggerated or arbitrary, nor
has he proved that the government lacks factual basis for its assessment. See United States v. Janis [76-2 USTC
116,229 ], 428 U.S. 433, 442 (1976) (“Certainly, proof that an assessment is utterly without foundation is proof that
it is arbitrary and erroneous.”).

n,

After reviewing the entire record before us, we cannot conclude that the government’s assessment lacks any
reasonable foundation. The formula used to estimate Jones’ income from drug sales is sufficiently related to the
amount of drug activity taking place at Hanover Place to withstand review. As we stated in Anson v. Commissioner,
328 F.2d at 707:

“Although assessment by formula cannot produce exactness, it can, when adapted and adjusted to particular
facts, be expected to reach substantial correctness . . .. We agree with the Tax Court that the Commissioner . . .
adopted a reasonable method to compute [the unreported] income.”

The record clearly demonstrates that Jones was involved in the cocaine trade taking place at Hanover Place for some
indeterminate period of time prior to his arrest in October 1985. At trial, a Metropolitan Police Department sergeant
testified that in the one-block area known as Hanover Place, “there were several locations . . . being used for the
distribution of the drugs.” R. Vol. I, Tab 22 at p. 83. The sergeant stated further: “[t]here was hundreds of people
lining the street selling drugs.” *

As to Jones’ involvement in this massive operation, the police sergeant testified that beginning in mid to late 1984,

“What we did was, we were making arrests. Officers out of my unit were making arrests in the area of the
people who were selling right there on the street. The people were brought in and they were interviewed, and
they were interrogated as to who was behind the operation on Hanover Place. Several of the individuals that
were arrested informed the investigating officers and myself that the person behind the drugs on Hanover
Place was Mr. Cornell Jones.”

R. Vol. |, Tab 22 at p. 81. In setting up the undercover sale of cocaine substitute to Jones, the police gained further
knowledge of his role:

“Q. How did the police department, in its reverse sale operation with Mr. Jones, how did it initially make
contact with Mr. Jones?

A. We did not know that we were actually making contact with Mr. Jones. We had a cooperating individual
who said that it had been selling drugs to an individual who identified himself as the Czar of Hanover Place.
This individual, to us, was believed to be Mr. Cronell Jones [sic].”

Id. at p. 90.

The government originally estimated Jones’ unreported income based on an assumption that drug sales at Hanover
Place totalled 20 kilograms per week, or 20,000 weekly sales of one-gram bags at the street price of $100 each. The
government’s revenue agent testified that in preparing the statutory notice of deficiency he had halved the original
sales volume “in an effort to come up with what I thought was a more reasonable and conservative estimate . . ..”
Id. at 57. The government’s assumption concerning the quantity of drugs being sold at Hanover Place in 1985 is
primarily based on the following statement by the Metropolitan Police Department sergeant:
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“It was our conservative estimate from the amount of drugs we were seizing from the street, the amount of
money we were seizing from the street, the amount of vehicle traffic and pedestrian traffic we were seeing on
the street, we came to the determination that there was approximately one kilo per shift going out of Hanover
Place. That would be three kilos a day, seven days a week. The street was running constantly. There was
hundreds of people lining the street selling drugs.”

R. Vol. I, Tab 22 at p. 85. The other basis for the sales quantity figure arises from two statements, one by Jones
during the October purchase of cocaine substitute, and the other by Jones’ coconspirator in the course of discussions
between the coconspirator and government agents leading up to the purchase. The government’s undercover agent
who negotiated the purchase testified at trial that “He [Jones] said that he could do 20 keys per week.” R. Vol. I, Tab
22, at p. 146. The same undercover agent testified that Jones’ coconspirator had told him that “he and Cornell were
doing approximately 50 kilos per month and they could handle the 10 kilos [we proposed to sell them.]” Id. at 133.
The Tax Court credited the statements, concluding that they were not mere “puffery.”

House
Beautiful Homes, Inc. v. Commissioner [69-1 usTc 19138 ], 405 F.2d 61, 65 (10th Cir. 1968).

It is almost certain that the Commissioner’s assessment of unreported income is inaccurate. The inaccuracy results,
however, not from uncertainty concerning Jones’ significant involvement in this massive drug scheme, but from his
failure to maintain any records whatsoever reflecting drug related income, and his refusal to even suggest a more
accurate amount or more reasonable basis to compute his income. There is simply too much evidence supporting the
government’s assessment of enormous income derived from illegal sources to sustain Jones’ attack which in turn is
totally devoid of any evidentiary foundation. We conclude that the government’s assessment is entitled to a
presumption of correctness; therefore, we affirm the Tax Court’s decision as to the income tax deficiency for the
calendar year 1985.

The only remaining issue is whether the Tax Court correctly computed the additions to the tax deficiency. The
Commissioner contends that the Tax Court erroneously omitted additions under 26 U.S.C. §86651(a)(1) and
6653(a)(2), and that the court incorrectly assessed the addition under §6661 at ten percent of the tax liability rather
than at twenty-five percent. Indeed, from the record before us, it appears that the Tax Court attempted to correct its
order by issuing an “amendment” thereto which reflected to some degree the Commissioner’s allegations concerning
the additions. ® Because there appears to have been confusion concerning the additions requested by the
Commissioner and the appropriate legal standards which apply to those requests, we reverse that part of the Tax
Court’s decision concerning the additions to the tax deficiency and remand for further proceedings to determine the
appropriate additions.

CONCLUSION

The government has no burden of proof as to its notice of deficiency in the fact of Jones’ silence at trial except that
the assessment it makes must be reasonably based on facts appearing in the record. The record before us amply
demonstrates that Jones was significantly involved in a massive drug selling operation for some period preceding his
arrest in 1985. The evidence produced at trial supports the Tax Court’s conclusion that the assessment of unreported
income was reasonable in light of the enormous proceeds which were generated by the Hanover Place drug
operation. We therefore affirm the Tax Court’s decision sustaining the income tax deficiency. We reverse the
assessment of additions to the tax deficiency and remand the case for further proceedings to determine the
appropriate amount of the additions.

AFFIRMED in part and REVERSED in part.

! On October 18, 1988 the Tax Court issued an “Order” sua sponte which purported to amend its
decision by increasing the addition to tax under 26 U.S.C. 86651(a)(1) and by assessing a final
addition to tax related to interest on the deficiency pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §6653(a)(2). Jones filed
his notice of appeal on September 8, 1988; after that date the Tax Court lacked jurisdiction to
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issue its “Order.” It therefore has no effect on the Tax Court’s decision dated August 18, 1988.
See, e.g., United States v. 397.51 Acres of Land, 692 F.2d 688, 693 (10th Cir. 1982) (with two

recognized exceptions, “[t]he filing of a notice of appeal divests the district court of jurisdiction .
....7"); SEC v. Investors Security Corp., 560 F.2d 561, 568 (3d Cir. 1977).
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TCM, [CCH Dec. 44,977(M)] , Cornell M. Jones v. Commissioner, Additions to tax: Failure to file return:
Failure to report income: Negligence: Commissioner of Internal Revenue: Deficiency determination: Income:
Illegal.--, (Aug. 15, 1988)

[CCH Dec. 44,977(M)]
Cornell M. Jones v. Commissioner

Docket No. 36601-86., TC Memo. 1988-373, 55 TCM 1556, Filed August 15, 1988
[Appealable, barring stipulation to the contrary, to CA-10.--CCH.]
[Code Secs. 6651(a) , 6653(a), 6654 and 6661 ]

Additions to tax: Failure to file return: Failure to report income: Negligence: Commissioner of Internal Revenue:
Deficiency determination: Income: Illegal.--An incarcerated taxpayer had unreported income of $33,000,000 in
1985 from the illegal sale of cocaine and was liable for additions to tax for failing to file a Federal income tax return
for 1985, for negligence or intentional disregard of rules and regulations, and for understatement of income.
However, the Commissioner, in amending his answer to claim an increased addition to taxafter passage of the
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986, failed to prove that his termination assessment of $33,990,402, based
on $68,000,000 in unreported income from the sale of narcotics, did not include the addition to tax on the deficiency
determined ($16,490,402), and that the assessment of this addition to tax would be made after October 21, 1986. The
Court thus sustained the original determination under Code Sec. 6661 in the amount of $1,649,040, which the
Commissioner had stated in the statutory notice of deficiency.--CCH.

Cornell M. Jones, pro se. Dianne Crosby, for the respondent.
Memorandum Findings of Fact and Opinion
WILLIAMS, Judge:

The Commissioner determined a deficiency in petitioner’s 1985 Federal income tax of $16,490,402 and
additions to tax as follows: pursuant to section 6651(a)(1) , $1,649,040; * section 6 653(a)(1), $824,520; section
6654 , $2,507; * and section 6661 , $1,649,040.

Respondent determined the addition to tax pursuant to section 6651(a)(1) in his statutory notice as 10 percent of
the deficiency because at the time the notice was issued petitioner’s return was two months late. In his first
amendment to answer filed September 30, 1987, respondent increased the addition to 25 percent of the deficiency.
In this first amendment respondent also increased the section 6661 addition to tax from 10 percent to 25 percent of
the underpayment of tax attributable to petitioner’s understatement of income because the Omnibus Reconciliation
Act of 1986 increased the rate at which the addition to tax was imposed for additions assessed after October 21,
1986. In his second amendment to his answer, respondent alleged that petitioner was liable for an addition to tax
pursuant to section 6653(a)(2) on an underpayment in the amount of the deficiency. The issues we must decide are
(1) whether petitioner had unreported income of $33,000,000 in 1985 from the illegal sale of cocaine and (2)
whether petitioner is liable for the additions to tax determined by respondent.

Findings of Fact

At the time petitioner filed the petition in this case he was a resident of the Federal penitentiary in Leavenworth,
Kansas. Petitioner filed a Federal income tax return for 1984, but he did not file a Federal income tax return for
1985.

On October 29, 1985, petitioner was arrested by the Washington, D.C. Metropolitan Police Department (“D.C.

Police”) after having purchased from an undercover police officer a kilogram of a substance petitioner believed to be
cocaine that he could dilute for distribution to street dealers. As a result, petitioner pled guilty to conspiracy to
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possess with intent to distribute cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. §846 (1982). Petitioner was sentenced to a prison
term of 9 to 27 years, which he is serving at the Federal penitentiary in Leavenworth, Kansas.

Petitioner’s arrest and conviction resulted from a long-term investigation by the D.C. Police of large scale drug
trafficking taking place at a small area known as Hanover Place in the District of Columbia. Based upon long-term
surveillance and searches of persons arrested in Hanover Place, the D.C. Police estimated that during 1985
approximately one kilogram of cocaine for each eight-hour shift was sold at Hanover Place. Petitioner’s operatives
sold cocaine around the clock in three shifts per day, selling approximately 21 kilos per week at Hanover Place.
Persons arrestedduring 1984 and 1985 identified petitioner as the “kingpin” of Hanover Place.

The D.C. Police investigated petitioner’s involvement in the illegal drug sales at Hanover Place in part through an
undercover operation. Two members of the D.C. Police posed as South American importers of large quantities of
cocaine. Detective Jesus Gonzales (“Gonzales”), the principal undercover operative, made contact with petitioner
through one of petitioner’s acquaintances,Alvin Bailey (“Bailey”) and set up a meeting with petitioner. On October
29, 1985, Bailey and petitioner met Gonzales and another undercover operative in a hotel room in Washington, D.C.
where they negotiated a deal. At this meeting petitioner represented to Gonzales that he could sell 20 kilos of
cocaine per week. In the room during these discussions was a package which was representedby the undercover
officers to be a kilo of cocaine but was in fact a sham. The substance looked, tasted and felt like cocaine but was
actually harmless. Petitioner agreed to buy the package for $30,000 cash which he produced and gave to the
undercover officers. The D.C. Police arrested petitioner and Bailey leaving the hotel room with the sham cocaine
package.

After the arrest on October 29, 1985, the D.C. Police obtained search warrants for petitioner’s residence, two
safety deposit boxes (one in petitioner’s name and one in the name of Rose Jones, petitioner’s mother), and for an
apartment in Silver Spring, Maryland. The search of petitioner’s residence produced, among other things, a small
quantity of cocaine, five handguns, $870,000 in cash, a narcotics identification kit, a debugging device, a bill
counting machine, communications equipment, two safety deposit box keys, two Mercedes Benz automobiles,
jewelry, furs, a copy of a search warrant executed at a house on Hanover Place at which quantities of cocaine and
related paraphernalia were seized by the D.C. Police, 28 airline tickets fromWashington, D.C. to Las Vegas and
tickets to see a championship fight there, and petitioner’s personal papers. A search of the safety deposit box in
petitioner’s name yielded $57,600 in cash and three gold ingots, while the safety deposit box under the name of
petitioner’s mother yielded $586,300 in cash. The search of the Silver Spring apartment yielded 10.5 kilos of
cocaine, $4,000 in cash, photos of petitioner and personal papers bearing petitioner’s name, drug packaging
paraphernalia, a blender with cocaine residue, and cocaine brick presses. The Federal Bureau of Investigation
(“F.B.1.”) fingerprinted the apartment and found only petitioner’s finger prints. The F.B.I. determined that the
apartment had been rented by Lijuan Lawson. She told the F.B.I. that she had never used the apartment and that she
turned it over to petitioner.

During 1985 the retail price of a gram of cocaine in the District of Columbia was $100. The average cost of a kilo
of cocaine to a distributor was $28,000 to $30,000. Pure cocaine is customarily “cut” or diluted before being
packaged in one gram quantities for sale on the street. The minimum cut is one to one making a gram of cocaine
sold on the street approximately 45-50 percent pure. Cocaine is frequently “cut” more than once.

In January 1986 respondent made a termination assessment of $33,990,402 based on $68,000,000 in unreported
income from the sale of narcotics. Respondent mailed his statutory notice of deficiency to petitioner on June 26,
1986. Petitioner maintained no books and records of his drug sales for 1985. In the statutory notice of deficiency
respondent determined petitioner’s income from the sale of cocaine in 1985 as follows:

Total kilograms sold per week after being
diluted one time with a customary adulterant used to
dilute or cut cocaine (5 kilos X 2) ................ 10

Number of weeks (before arrest) in 1985 ......... 40
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Grams per kilogram ........ccccccceeeviiiiinnns 1,000

Street sales price of 1 gram ................... $100

Total sales in 1985:

10 kilos x 40 week S

X 1000 grams x $100 equals ............cceueueee. $40,000,000.00

Less cost of cocaine:

A.Costof LKilo ..........oeevvvvnnee. $35,000.00
B. Kilos purchased per week ............. 5
C. Number of weeks in 1985 .............. 40
D. Total cost of goods sold in 1985;
5 kilos X 40 WeekKsS .......coeveeiiiiiiiin, $ 7,000,000.00
Net Income from narcotics in 1985 .................. $33,000,000.00

The revenue agent assumed that the cocaine sold by petitioner was cut only once before it was sold, that petitioner
sold cocaine for 40 weeks in 1985 although there were actually 43 weeksprior to petitioner’s arrest, and that the cost
basis per kilo of cocaine to petitioner was $35,000 rather than $28,000 to $30,000. Each of these assumptions was
conservative in petitioner’s favor.

Opinion

The first issue we must decide is whether petitioner had unreported income of $33,000,000 in 1985 from the illegal
sale of cocaine. Respondent’s determination of deficiency is presumptively correct. Petitioner has the burden of
proving respondent’s determination erroneous. Welch v. Helvering [3 usTc 11164 ], 290 U.S. 111 (1933); Rule
142(a), Tax Court Rules of Practice and Procedure. A showing by petitioner, however, that the statutory notice is
arbitrary, excessive or without foundation shifts the burden of going forward with the evidence to respondent.
Helvering v. Taylor [35-1 usTc 19044 ], 290 U.S. 507 (1935).

Petitioner argues that the statutory notice of deficiency is arbitrary and excessive because petitioner’s statement
to Gonzales that he could move 20 kilos of cocaine a week cannot support a conclusion that he received drug
income in 1985. We have found that this statement was in fact made, and we do not believe, as petitioner argues,
that it was mere puffery. The evidence shows that about 20 kilograms of cocaine were sold at Hanover Place each
week in 1985 prior to petitioner’s arrest. Respondent attributed gross income to petitioner from sales of 10
kilograms of cocaine per week.

We found the testimony of all of respondent’s witnesses to be persuasive and credible. Their testimony
established petitioner’s connection with the significant volume of drug trafficking occurring at Hanover Place. The
results of the searches of petitioner’s residence, safety deposit boxes, and apartment in Silver Spring, Maryland
further connect petitioner with a large cocaine distribution operation.

Respondent’s determination of petitioner’s cost basis for cocaine of $35,000 per kilo and his determination of a
sales period of 40 weeks during 1985 were both reasonable and conservativein light of petitioner’s lack of adequate
books and records and his failure to file a return.

In light of the overwhelming evidence linking petitioner to participation in illegal cocaine sales, we hold that the
statutory notice of deficiency is neither arbitrary nor excessive. The“naked assessment™ cases cited by petitioner are
inapplicable in this case because respondent has produced substantial evidence of petitioner’s extensive activities in
illegally selling cocaine. See Llorente v. Commissioner [81-1 USTC 19446 ], 649 F.2d 152 (2d Cir. 1981);
Weimerskirch v. Commissioner [79-1 ustc 19359 ], 596 F.2d 358 (9th Cir. 1979); Carson v. United States [78-1
usTC 116,280 ], 560 F.2d 693 (5th Cir. 1977); Gerardo v. Commissioner [77-1 usTc 19322 ], 552 F.2d 549 (3d Cir.
1977); Pizzarello v. United States [69-1 usTc 115,886], 408 F.2d 579 (2d Cir. 1969); and DeCavalcante v.
Commissioner [80-1 usTc 19363 ], 620 F.2d 23 (3d Cir. 1980).
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Aside from his improbable testimony that he was engaged in manufacturing jewelry, partial ownership of a
service station, and contracting work, petitioner did not offer any proof to support his contention that he was not
involved in drug trafficking during 1985. The evidence is overwhelmingly to the contrary. The cocaine found in the
Silver Spring apartment which evidenced his fingerprints, the drug paraphernalia, cash, jewelry, debugging devices
and search warrant found at petitioner’s home are more than sufficient to connect petitioner with the distribution and
sale of cocaine. The testimony of Detective Gonzales was sufficient to tie petitioner to Hanover Place. Because
petitioner has failed to file a return or keep adequate records and has unreported income from an illegal enterprize,
respondent is authorized to determine the existence and amount of petitioner’s income by any method that clearly
reflects income. Section 446(b) ; Jackson v. Commissioner [Dec. 36,460 ], 73 T.C. 394 (1979); Harper v.
Commissioner [Dec. 30,129 ], 54 T.C. 1121 (1970). Consequently, we hold that petitioner is liable for the deficiency
as determined by respondent.

Respondent has determined additions to petitioner’s tax pursuant to sections 6651(a)(1) , 6653(a)(1), 6653(a)(2),
6654 , and 6661 . Except for an increase in the section 6651(a)(1) addition to tax, an increase in the section 6661
addition to tax, and for the section 6653(a)(2) addition to tax, which were raised by amended answer, petitioner has
the burden of proving that the additions to tax were wrongly determined by respondent. Rule 142(a), Tax Court
Rules of Practice and Procedure.

Section 6651(a)(1) provides an addition to tax for failure to file a return at the rate of 5 percent of the amount of
tax due per month up to 25 percent in the aggregate. On November 30, 1987, petitioner stipulated that he had not
filed a Federal income tax return for 1985. Petitioner did not request an extension of time for filing. Petitioner
contends, however, that his being incarcerated at the Federal penitentiary in Leavenworth, Kansas, was reasonable
cause for his failure to file within the meaning of section 6651(a)(1) . Petitioner has not presented any evidence that
he was denied access to whatever records he may have had, and has made no showing that he attempted in good
faith to file a return in 1985. Petitioner concedes on brief that he was aware of his obligation to file a Federal income
tax return and has stipulated that he filed a Federal income tax return in 1984 and did not for 1985. Consequently,
petitioner is liable for the full amount of the addition to tax pursuant to section 6651(a) as requested in respondent’s
amended answer.

Additionally, we hold petitioner liable for the addition to tax pursuant to section 6653(a)(1) and 6653(a)(2) for
negligence or intentional disregard of rules and regulations. The burden of proving the portion of the deficiency
attributable to negligence pursuant to section 6653(a)(2) is on the respondent because this addition to tax was raised
in his Second Amendment to Answer filed with leave of the Court on November 30, 1987. Petitioner did not keep
any records of his illegal business dealings. Moreover, respondent has proven that petitioner actively sought to
conceal his income from narcotics dealing by failing to keep books and records and by concealing assets through
renting an apartment and safety deposit box in the names of other persons. Accordingly, we hold that all of the
deficiency determined by respondent is due to negligence or intentional disregard of rules and regulations and the
additions to tax pursuant to sections 6653(a)(1) and 6653(a)(2) should be imposed.

We also hold petitioner liable for the addition to tax pursuant to section 6654 in the amount of $2,507 as
determined by respondent. Petitioner failed to present evidence on this issue.

Finally, respondent in the statutory notice of deficiency determined additions to tax pursuant to section 6661
which was then imposed at the rate of 10 percent of the underpayment of tax attributable to petitioner’s
understatement of income, i.e., in this case, $1,649,040. Petitioner presented no evidence challenging respondent’s
determination. The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1986 increased the rate at which the addition to tax
pursuant to section 6661 was imposed to 25 percent for additions to tax assessed after October 21, 1986. Pallotini v.
Commissioner [Dec. 44,671 ], 90 T.C. 498 (1988). Respondent amended his answer to claim an increased addition
to tax, but presented no evidence that the assessment, viz, $33,990,402 did not include the addition to tax pursuant to
section 6661 on the deficiency determined, viz, $16,490,402. Consequently, on this record, respondent, who bears
the burden of proof on the increased addition to tax, has failed to prove that the assessment of this addition to tax
will be made after October 21, 1986. We sustain respondent’s determination in the amount of $1,649,040.

Decision will be entered for respondent.
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